2016

**Outfront Media, LLC, Fka Cbs Outdoor, Plaintiff and Appellant, v.  
Salt Lake City Corporation; Corner Property, l.c., and Utah Outdoor  
Advertising, Inc., Defendants and Appellees.**

Utah Court of Appeals

### Statement of Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(a)(ii) (district court review of an informal adjudicative proceeding).

### Issues Presented For Review

1. Whether the Hearing Officer erred when he determined that, pursuant to relevant statutes, the mayor had the authority to initiate eminent domain proceedings. This is a matter of statutory interpretation, reviewed for correctness. *Lieber v. ITT Hartford Ins. Ctr., Inc.*, 2000 UT 90, ¶7, 15 P.3d 1030. This issue was preserved below pursuant to CBS' Motion for Summary Judgment/Trial Brief. (See R.266-91.)
2. Whether the Hearing Officer erred when he interpreted Salt Lake City Ordinance 21A.46.160. Utah courts "interpret . . . ordinances . . . according to our well-settled rules of statutory interpretation and construction," *Pinetree Associates v. Ephraim City*, 2003 UT 6, ¶ 13, 67 P. 3d 462, which is for correctness, though courts "afford some level of non-binding deference to the interpretation advanced by the local agency. *M & S Cox Investments v. Provo City Corp.*, 2007 UT App 315, ¶ 29, 169 P. 3d 789. This issue was preserved below pursuant to CBS' Motion for Summary Judgment/Trial Brief. (See R.266-91.)
3. Whether the Hearing Officer erred when he authorized approval of the Corner Property application despite violations of city law. This issue is reviewed as

set forth above in issue no. 2. This issue was preserved below pursuant to CBS' Motion for Summary Judgment/Trial Brief. (See R.266-91.)

4. Whether the Hearing Officer erred when he ruled that the bases provided by the City for denying CBS' application and for granting Corner Property's application were not arbitrary and capricious. A decision is "arbitrary" or "capricious" if it is not "supported by substantial evidence." *Bradley v. Payson City Corp.*, 2003 UT 16, ¶¶ 10-15, 70 P.3d 47. "Substantial evidence" is "that quantum and quality of relevant evidence that is adequate to convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion." *Carlsen v. Bd. of Adjust. of City of Smithfield*, 2012 UT App 260, ¶ 4, 287 P.3d 44. This issue was preserved below pursuant to CBS' Motion for Summary Judgment/Trial Brief. (See R.266-91.)

### **Determinative Statutory Provisions**

Utah Code Ann. §§ 10-9a-511 through -513, 78B-6-504 and Salt Lake City Ordinance 21A.46.160. Each of the statutes and the ordinance are included in Addendum Ex. 1.

### **Statement of the Case**

#### Nature of the case.

On November 25, 2015, Salt Lake City ("the City") denied a request made by Appellant Outfront Media fka CBS Outdoor ("CBS") to relocate a billboard previously located at 726 West South Temple to 738 West South Temple (BLD2014-07688).

On the same day, the City issued a permit to Utah Outdoor Advertising and/or

Corner Property, L.C. (collectively "Corner Property"), allowing construction of a new billboard on the property previously utilized by CBS, 726 West South Temple (BLD2014-07984). Due to certain restrictions found in state law, only one of the applications can be granted due to the space between the proposed billboards.

CBS properly appealed each decision per City ordinance and a Land Use Hearing Officer was appointed. The parties submitted briefs and the Hearing Officer heard oral arguments.

The City argued that former Mayor Ralph Becker personally made the decision to condemn CBS's sign and grant a permit to Corner Property, that this decision was based upon a "longstanding policy to reduce the total number of billboards within the City," Becker Decl., ¶ 7 (R.69-71), and that the former Mayor had unfettered discretion to determine how to treat the applications at issue, including the right to condemn CBS' sign in making this decision. (See R.55-68.)

CBS argued that the former Mayor's decision was arbitrary, capricious and illegal. Under state law, the former Mayor did not have the discretion to unilaterally condemn CBS' sign without the approval and authority of the city council. Moreover, the "policy" relied upon by the former Mayor did not exist in any enforceable form, rendering the decision arbitrary and capricious. (See R.32-54.)

The Hearing Officer issued two decisions, determining that Corner Property's application was properly granted and that CBS's application was properly denied. (See R.75-85.)



CBS timely appealed these decisions to the trial court pursuant to Utah Code section 10-9a-801(2)(a). (See R. 1-8.) The trial court, after considering CBS' motion for summary judgment/trial brief and the opposing parties' pleadings, and after hearing oral argument, affirmed the Hearing Officer's decisions. (See R. 565-68.)

CBS filed a timely appeal of this ruling. (See R. 569-70.)

Statement of relevant facts.

1. CBS is the owner of an outdoor advertising sign that was located at 726 W. South Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah, (the "Billboard"), and the owner of all of the rights associated with the Billboard. (See R.1-5.)

2. The City is a Utah municipality located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. (See *id.*)

3. Corner Property is a Utah limited liability co. doing business in Salt Lake County. (See *id.*)

4. Utah Outdoor Advertising, Inc. ("UOA") is a Utah corporation or a dba for a limited liability company, which was issued permit no. BLD2014-07984 (one of the permits at issue here). Corner Property has represented to the Court that UOA is its agent, and has no ownership or control over the permit. (See *id.*; see also R.259-63).

5. On October 20, 2014, CBS applied to the City for a permit to relocate and increase the height of the Billboard pursuant to Utah Code section 72-7-510.5. The request was to relocate the Billboard approximately 50 feet, from 726 West

South Temple to 738 West South Temple, and raise it to avoid it from being obstructed by UDOT improvements. (See Compl., Ex. A (R.32-54); see also R.296-301).

6. In a December 4, 2014 letter, the City told CBS that its relocation request was denied because state law did not allow both relocation and a height increase. (R.303-04).

7. In its letter, the City invited CBS to modify its application, and request relocation under Utah Code section 10-9a-511(3)(c)(i), but cautioned: "Please be advised, however, that the City reserves the right to condemn the Sign under Utah Code § 10-9a-513(2)." (*Id.*)

8. Believing the City had misinterpreted the statute, CBS filed an administrative appeal of the December 4, 2014 decision, but the City refused to hear it. (See R.306-09.)

9. CBS then filed an appeal in the Third District Court, asking the Court to determine that the City had misinterpreted section 71-7-501.5. (See R.311).

10. On August 18, 2015, on cross-motions for summary judgment, the court disagreed with CBS's interpretation of the state statute, and ruled that CBS did not have the right to both relocate and raise the height under the statute. The court affirmed the City's denial of CBS's application on that basis and dismissed the appeal. (See R.315.)



11. On September 15, 2015, CBS accepted the invitation to modify its application that the City had advanced in its December 4, 2014 offer, and requested relocation of the billboard to 738 West South Temple under Utah Code § 10-9a-511(3)(c)(i). (See R.320.)

12. Almost a year earlier, in November 2014, in anticipation of relocating to the adjacent property, CBS removed its billboard from the 726 West South Temple location. (See R. 3.)

13. Shortly before CBS removed the sign from 726 West South Temple, Corner Property had applied pursuant to Utah Code §10-9a-511(3)(c)(i) to relocate a sign from 280 West 500 South to 726 West South Temple location. (See R.321-32). The distance between these two sites was greater than 5,280 feet. (See R.334-35).

14. According to documents supplied by the City and UDOT, the sign located at 280 West 500 South was permitted for one sign face of "672 square feet." (See R.321-24; 342.)

15. Corner Property's application was submitted on October 31, 2014, which was eleven days after CBS had submitted its application to move to the adjacent property. (See R.321-32).

16. On November 25, 2015, the City denied CBS's application on this basis:

In this case, [CBS]'s request to relocate to 738 West South Temple is prohibited under City Code because the billboard is within a "gateway" as such term is defined under City Code 21A.46.160(B). Thus, in order to grant [CBS]'s request to relocate, the City would have to waive the prohibition in its ordinance, which the City is not willing

to do because the City has a longstanding policy in favor of retiring and removing billboards as the opportunity to do so arises.

(R. 343.)

17. On that same day, the City approved Corner Property's request to relocate to the same "gateway" location. According to City records, the Corner Property permit was issued before the application process was even complete, before fees were paid and before a Billboard Relocation Agreement was fully signed and effective. (R.345-47).

18. In addition, the City's approval allowed Corner Property to raise the height of its billboard to 85 feet and two include two 672 square foot faces. (See R.321-32.)

19. Both CBS's and Corner Property's proposed new billboards would be located in a "gateway", which is defined in City Code to include signs that front Interstate 15. See SLC Code § 21.46.160.B.

20. Pursuant to City Code, "no new billboard may be constructed within six hundred feet (600') of the right of way of any gateway. See *id.* at 21A.46.160.N.

21. The state statute on which both CBS and Corner Property rely for their relocation requests allows a municipality to grant such a request "notwithstanding any prohibition in its zoning ordinance." Utah Code § 10-9a-511(3)(c)(i).

22. Under Utah law, billboards may not be within 500 feet of each other. Utah Code § 72-7-505(3). Therefore both applications could not be granted.



23. According to the City, it approved Corner Property's building permit because it has a policy interest in removing billboards from the 500 South gateway. This decision was supported by a declaration signed by former Mayor Ralph Becker, a copy of which is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit C (R.69-71).

24. Corner Property's 500 South billboard is located in a gateway that has no higher priority than the West South Temple proposed billboard locations (oriented to I-15). The 500 South billboard is in zone D-2, which been excluded from the downtown priority area for removing billboards. (*See* R.352; Ord. 21A.46.160.F.)

25. 738 West South Temple and 726 West South Temple are located within the same "gateway" referred to by the City. (*See id.*)

26. CBS filed an administrative appeal of both of the City's November 25, 2015 decisions, designated PLNAPP 2015-00973 and PLNAPP 2015-00974 (R.363, *et seq.*)

27. A hearing was held on the matter on January 14, 2015.

30. The next day, the Hearing Officer issued decisions in each of the administrative appeals. (R.75-85.)

31. With respect to the appeal of the Corner Property application decision, the Hearing Officer found that CBS was required "to demonstrate that the Mayor's exercise of discretion in approving the permit which is the subject of this appeal is beyond "the bounds of reasonableness." (*Id.*) The Hearing Officer upheld the City's grant of the permit to Corner Property. (*See id.*)

32. The Hearing Officer also ruled that a zoning official had power to condemn property, as did the Mayor, without proper input and decision making from the appropriate body, the City Council, and upheld the City's permit denial to CBS. (*Id.*)

33. These decisions were appealed to the trial court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801. After briefing and oral argument, the trial court upheld the Hearing Officer's decisions. (*See* R. 565-68.)

34. This decision was timely appealed to this Court. (*See* R. 569-70.)

### **Summary of Argument**

1. State law provides that, as between the legislative (city council) and executive (the mayor) branches of municipal government, only the city council can exercise the power of eminent domain. The Hearing Officer in this case held that, despite such law, a mayor has the power to initiate condemnation proceedings. This ruling is contrary to law and, therefore, illegal.

2. The Hearing Officer also erred when it interpreted Salt Lake City Ord. 21A.46.160.CC in a manner that rendered the ordinance meaningless. This interpretation is contrary to Utah law and should be reversed.

3. The Hearing Officer erred when he interpreted Utah Code section 10-9a-511(c) in a manner that allowed the City to waive any and all provisions of the City Code that might otherwise affect and prevent Corner Property's billboard.

4. Last, the Hearing Officer erred when he affirmed the City's decision to

reject CBS' application and accept Corner Property's application, despite the fact that there was no evidence to support the reasoning behind the City's respective decisions. In other words, the Hearing Officer erred when he ruled that the City's actions were not arbitrary or capricious.

## **Argument**

### **I. Standard of Review.**

This case involves review of an administrative land use decision. This Court reviews the administrative decision "just as if the appeal had come directly from the agency and accord[s] no particular deference to the [trial] court's decision." *Rogers v. West Valley City*, 2006 UT App 302, ¶ 12, 142 P.3d 554 (citing *Wells v. Board of Adjustment of Salt Lake City Corp.*, 936 P.2d 1102, 1104 (Utah Ct. App. 1997)); see also *Pen & Ink, LLC v. Alpine City*, 2010 UT App 203, ¶ 16, 238 P.3d 63. The task for this Court is to determine whether the administrative decision "is arbitrary, capricious, or illegal." Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801(3)(a)(ii); see also *Patterson v. Utah County Bd. of Adjustment*, 893 P.2d 602, 604 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (same).

Determining illegality "requires a determination that the decision...violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision was made or the ordinance or regulation adopted." Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-801(3)(d); see also *Carlsen v. Bd. of Adjust. of City of Smithfield*, 2012 UT App 260, ¶ 4, 287 P.3d 44 ("Determination of whether such a decision is illegal depends on a proper interpretation and application of the law."). Because a determination of illegality is



based on the land use authority's interpretation of zoning ordinances, Utah courts review such determinations for correctness, but “also afford some level of non-binding deference to the interpretation advanced by” the land use authority. *Fox v. Park City*, 2008 UT 85, ¶ 11, 200 P.3d 182.

A decision is “arbitrary” or “capricious” if it is not “supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.*, § 10-9a-801(3)(c); *Bradley v. Payson City Corp.*, 2003 UT 16, ¶¶ 10-15. “Substantial evidence” is “that quantum and quality of relevant evidence that is adequate to convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion.” *Carlsen*, 2012 UT App 260, ¶ 4.

## **II. The Hearing Officer’s Decision Affording Eminent Domain Power to the Mayor is Illegal.**

CBS argued below that the City’s decision to condemn CBS’ billboard was illegal because the decision was made solely by the mayor, as opposed to the city council. The Hearing Officer determined that, pursuant to the relevant statutes, the mayor had the authority to initiate eminent domain proceedings. This ruling is contrary to Utah law and therefore illegal.

The City operates under the “council-mayor” form of government, comprised of a five-person city council and the mayor. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 10-3b-201. By statute, the council is the legislative body and the mayor is the “chief executive” who “execute[s] the policies adopted by the council,” *id.*, § 10-3b-202, -203.

The specific question at issue here, given this separation of powers, is: which entity has authority to take property by eminent domain, the city council or the



mayor? State law answers this question: only the city council can make this decision. A decision made solely by the mayor, without the input and approval of the city council, is therefore illegal.

Section 78B-6-504, part of the Eminent Domain statute, specifically limits the power of eminent domain to a “governing body.” Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-504 (2). For a city, the “governing body” is specifically defined as the “legislative body,” here the city council. *Id.* This statute makes clear that a “condition precedent” to any taking is the approval of the city council. Absent such approval, “[p]roperty may not be taken.” *Id.*, § 78B-6-504(2)(b). This is the *only* statute that, as between mayor and city council, specifically designates the proper decision making entity.

The legislature has also made clear that, absent an agreement or mutual consent, a “municipality may only require termination of a billboard and associated property rights through . . . eminent domain.” Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-512.

If a billboard can only be terminated by eminent domain, and a decision regarding eminent domain can only be made by the legislative body, it follows that the decision to take CBS’ billboard by eminent domain had to be made by the city council. There is no dispute that the city council had no part in the action taken by the City in this case.

Instead, the City argued that other sections of the Municipal Land Use, Development and Management Act allow for the mayor alone to make decisions regarding eminent domain. Specifically, the City argued that sections 10-9a-511 and

- 513 allow complete discretion to the mayor to determine whether a billboard can be condemned. This argument, adopted by the Hearing Officer, is incorrect.

Section 10-9a-511 states in relevant part:

Notwithstanding a prohibition in its zoning ordinance, a municipality may permit a billboard owner to relocate the billboard within the municipality's boundaries to a location that is mutually acceptable to the municipality and the billboard owner. If the municipality and billboard owner cannot agree to a mutually acceptable location within 90 days after the owner submits a written request to relocate the billboard, the provisions of Subsection 10-9a-513(2)(a)(iv) apply.

Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-511(c).

Section 10-9a-513(2)(a) then provides:

A municipality is considered to have initiated the acquisition of a billboard structure by eminent domain if the municipality prevents a billboard owner from:

(iv) relocating a billboard into any commercial, industrial, or manufacturing zone within the municipality's boundaries, if:

(A) the relocated billboard is:

(I) within 5,280 feet of its previous location; and

(II) no closer than:

(Aa) 300 feet from an off-premise sign existing on the same side of the street or highway; or

(Bb) if the street or highway is an interstate or limited access highway that is subject to Title 72, Chapter 7, Part 5, Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, the distance allowed under that act between the relocated billboard and an off-premise sign existing on the same side of the interstate or limited access highway; and

(B)(I) the billboard owner has submitted a written request under Subsection 10-9a-511(3)(c); and

(II) the municipality and billboard owner are unable to agree, within the time provided in Subsection 10-9a-511(3)(c), to a mutually acceptable location . . .

*Id.*, § 10-9a-513(2)(a)(iv).

These two statutes are relevant because each of the billboard owners, CBS and Corner Property, requested relocation of a billboard pursuant to section 511. CBS' application was denied, though CBS otherwise met the requirements of section 513, including its provision that a municipality is "considered to have initiated the acquisition of a billboard structure by eminent domain." *Id.*

The City argued that: (1) section 511 allows the mayor complete discretion to relocate a billboard; (2) if that decision leads to condemnation of CBS' billboard pursuant to section 513, so be it, but that is a decision the mayor is allowed to make; and (3) despite the clear language of section 78B-6-504(2)(b) (requiring approval of the city council), that section does not apply to decisions made by the mayor under section 511 and 513.

The Hearing Officer agreed with the City on the following basis:

Another argument advanced by CBS is that only the City Council can initiate eminent domain procedures. To agree with that position would be contrary to the duty of an appeal authority to reconcile statutes so they operate harmoniously. The 511 provision does not state that the next step after the "initiation" of eminent domain is to seize the property and write out a check. Every procedure provided for in the eminent domain statute at Utah Code Ann. §78B-6-501 *et seq* may still be utilized. While a taking can only be finalized by the City Council, under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. §78B-6-504(2)(b), Section 513 of the land use code refers to the "initiation" of the process, not the finalization of it. It is true that 78B-6-505 describes how eminent domain is initiated under typical circumstances – the commencement of negotiations. There is nothing in Section 513 that waives that requirement, and logically that negotiation would be the next step after refusing the relocation subject to the provision of Section 513.

(R.77.) This ruling is erroneous.

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