2016

Outfront Media, LLC, Fka Cbs Outdoor, Plaintiff/ Appellant, v. Salt Lake City Corporation; Corner Property, l.c.; And Utah Outdoor Advertising, Defendants/Appellees.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

CBS asks this Court to review two City decisions: (1) the Mayor's decision to deny CBS's section 511 application to relocate its demolished 726 West South Temple billboard, and (2) the Mayor's decision to approve Corner Property's section 511 application to relocate its 500 South billboard. The decisions are not arbitrary, capricious or illegal and should be upheld.

With respect to the first City decision, the denial of CBS's application was not illegal. The Mayor, as the City's chief administrator, has authority to make administrative decisions on behalf of the City and the grant or denial of an application for billboard permits made under section 511 of the Utah Municipal Code, Utah Code § 10-9a-511, is an administrative decision.

CBS contends the City Council is required to approve the Mayor's decision because a provision of the Eminent Domain Statute, Utah Code § 78B-6-501 *et. seq.*, requires the City Council to approve the exercise of the powers of eminent domain conferred by that statute. That provision does not apply because the City is not exercising a power of eminent domain under the Eminent Domain Statute and the provisions of that statute do not apply to the denial of an application for a billboard permit made pursuant to section 511 of the Utah Municipal Code.

Specifically, sections 511 and 513 are contained in the Utah Municipal Code and set forth the statutory scheme that governs the applications at issue in this case. Those provisions do not state that the statutory scheme created by sections 511 and 513 incorporate the Eminent Domain Statute and the condemnation process set forth in that statute. Legislative history also demonstrates that it was not the intent of the legislature to incorporate the Eminent Domain Statute and the condemnation process set forth in that statute into the section 511 statutory scheme. Reading sections 511 and 513 as incorporating the requirements of the Eminent Domain Statute and its condemnation process is also absurd because it would impose the process in a regulatory taking action where the process is completely inapplicable and difficult, if not impossible, to complete. It would also enable billboard companies to prevent a municipality from denying a section 511 application, an absurd result where the plain language of the statute gives municipalities that choice.

The Court should also reject CBS's alternative argument that the City's denial of its application is illegal because section 21A.46.160CC of the Salt Lake City Code precludes the City from denying applications to relocate billboards where just compensation is owed for the denial. Interpreting section 21A.46.160CC as CBS suggests reads section 21A.46.160CC in conflict with the plain language of section 511. Where state and city code conflict, state code prevails. Moreover, the plain language and legislative history of section 21A.46.160CC do not support CBS's interpretation of that provision and the City has never interpreted that provision as precluding the City from making such denials.

Likewise, the denial of CBS's application is not arbitrary and capricious because it furthered the City's goal of reducing the total number of billboards in the Salt Lake City limits. CBS's claim that the City has no policy, goal or objective of reducing billboards in the City limits lacks merit because the record is replete with examples of that goal of the Becker administration and a policy, objective or goal of an administration does not need to be passed by the City Council to be valid, as CBS contends.

With respect to the second City decision, the approval of Corner Property's application is not illegal because section 511 allows the City to waive its ordinances to permit that relocation. Likewise, the decision is not arbitrary and capricious because denying CBS's application and approving Corner Property's application furthered the City's goal of reducing the total number of billboards in the City limits and removed a billboard from 500 South, a critical gateway to the City.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW AND THE DECISIONS SUBJECT TO THAT REVIEW.

A. The Applicable Standard of Review.

When reviewing administrative decisions a court must "presume that a decision . . . made under the authority of [Title 10, Chapter 9a] is valid; and . . . determine only whether or not the decision . . . is arbitrary, capricious, or illegal." Utah Code § 10-9a-801(3)(a)(i)-(ii). A decision is illegal if "the decision . . . violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision was made" Utah Code § 10-9a-801(3)(d). A decision is arbitrary and capricious if the decision is not supported by substantial

evidence in the record. *Carlsen v. Bd. of Adjustment of City of Smithfield*, 2012 UT App 260, ¶ 4, 287 P.3d 440.

B. The Decisions Subject to Review by this Court.

CBS incorrectly identifies the hearing officer's ruling, not the Mayor's decisions, as the administrative decision at issue and the subject of review in this case. Municipalities are charged by statute with the responsibility of establishing an appeal authority to "hear and decide . . . appeals from decisions applying the [municipality's] land use ordinances." Utah Code § 10-9a-701(1)(b). In the vast majority of cases, an appeal authority is charged with nothing more than determining whether the land use authority's decision violates a law, statute or ordinance or was not supported by substantial evidence.⁴ As such, the appeal authority performs the same review as a district court in a petition for judicial review or an appellate court on an appeal from that decision and its ruling is no more the administrative decision at issue than the ruling of the district court or a ruling of this Court. In some circumstances an appeal authority may actually hear testimony, weigh evidence, and is charged with remaking the

⁴ See e.g., Utah Code § 10-9a-701(3)(a)(i)-(ii) (stating an appeal authority acts in a "quasi-judicial manner" and "serve[s] as the final arbiter of issues involving the interpretation or application of land use ordinances"); Utah Code § 10-9a-707(3) (directing appeal authorities to "determine the correctness of a decision of the land use authority in its interpretation and application of a land use ordinance."); Salt Lake City Code § 21A.16.030(E) ("[a]n appeal from a decision of the historic landmark commission or planning commission shall be based on the record made below . . . [t]he appeals hearing officer shall uphold the decision unless it is not supported by substantial evidence in the record or it violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect when the decision was made.")

administrative decision.⁵ Only in those rare circumstances is the appeal authority's ruling the administrative decision that is the subject of review.

The hearing officer's ruling is not the administrative decision at issue in this case for two reasons. One, the hearing officer did not have authority to issue a ruling on the issues raised in the administrative appeal. Two, the hearing officer's review was appellate in nature. A hearing officer's authority is specifically limited to considering a municipality's application of its land use ordinance. See Utah Code § 10-9a-707(4) ("*[o]nly those decisions in which a land use authority has applied a land use ordinance to a particular application, person, or parcel may be appealed to an appeal authority.*") (emphasis added); Utah Code § 10-9a-703(1) (limiting appeals to an appeal authority to claims "that there is error in any order, requirement, decision, or determination made by the land use authority *in the administration or interpretation of the land use ordinance.*"); Salt Lake City Code § 21A.16.010 ("the appeals hearing officer shall hear and decide appeals alleging an error in any administrative decision made by the zoning administrator or the administrative hearing officer *in the administration or enforcement of this title*, as well as administrative decisions of the historic landmark commission; and the planning commission.") (emphasis added). CBS's administrative appeal asked the hearing officer to interpret the language of Utah Code § 10-9a-511(3)(c) and find the

⁵ See e.g., Utah Code § 10-9a-707(1)-(2) (stating that factual matters are reviewed under the standard set by municipal ordinance and where no standard is set the appeal authority reviews the matter de novo); Salt Lake City Code § 21A.46.030(E)(1) ("[t]he standard of review for an appeal, other than as provided in subsection E2 of this section, shall be de novo. The appeals hearing officer shall review the matter appealed anew, based upon applicable procedures and standards for approval, and shall give no deference to the decision below.")

Mayor's decisions were not permitted by that and other provisions of the Utah Code. As the City argued to the hearing officer, a hearing officer is not an Article III judge and a district court, not a City hearing officer, must make the determinations CBS requested in its administrative appeal.⁶ (R. 0746, SLCC 001404-1406; SLCC 002259-002260 (lines 494-517).) Despite the City's arguments, the hearing officer issued a ruling approving the Mayor's decisions and setting forth his interpretation of section 511 and the applicability of the Eminent Domain Statute to that provision.⁷ (R. 0746, SLCC 001893-1903.)

Second, the hearing officer's review although designated as *de novo* was appropriately appellate in nature.⁸ *De novo* review literally means "anew, afresh, a second time." *Pledger v. Cox*, 626 P.2d 415, 416 (Utah 1981) (internal quotations omitted). "De novo" may mean a complete retrial upon new evidence or a trial upon the record made before the lower tribunal. *Id.* at 416. The meaning of "de novo" is "dictated by the wording and context of the statute in which it appears and by the nature of the administrative body, decision and procedure being reviewed." *Id.* at 416-17. A *de novo* review of a decision made pursuant to statutory authority granting the decision-maker

⁶ Notably, the issues CBS asked the hearing officer to rule on are also issues of first impression under Utah law.

⁷ A hearing officer has authority to interpret municipal land use ordinances, but the hearing officer did not reach a conclusion on the meaning of section 21A.46.160(CC) of the Salt Lake City Code because the hearing officer determined that state law "trumped" City ordinance and the state law permitted the City to waive that ordinance. (R. 0746, SLCC 001896-98.)

⁸ The hearing officer found he was required to conduct a *de novo* review in this case because the decision was not an appeal from a decision of the historic landmark commission or the planning commission. (R. 01984-95.) *See also* Salt Lake City Code § 21A.16.030(E), included in the Addendum.

discretion requires the court to determine if the statute provided the decision maker authority to make the decision and whether the decision made exceeds the bounds of reasonableness. *See e.g., Hogs R Us v. Town of Fairfield*, 2009 UT 21, 207 P.3d 1221.

For example, in *Hogs R Us*, 2009 UT 21, ¶¶ 2-6, the Utah Supreme Court was charged with determining whether the law required the Town of Fairfield to maintain a road the plaintiffs used to access their land under a de novo standard of review. Recognizing it is not the role of a court to substitute its decision for that of an elected official where a statute confers authority for the decision on the elected official, the court's de novo review consisted of a determination that the applicable statute gave the town complete discretion to decide how to improve roads and the common law did not otherwise impose a duty to maintain roads. *Id.*, ¶¶ 15-23.

To the extent the hearing officer had any authority to review the Mayor's decisions in this case he appropriately limited his de novo review to a determination of whether the statute afforded the Mayor discretion to make the decisions and whether the decisions exceeded the bounds of reasonableness.⁹ As such, the hearing officer's ruling

⁹ CBS argued the hearing officer's de novo review should extend to the hearing officer stepping into the shoes of the Mayor and substituting his decision for that of the Mayor. The hearing officer initially ruled that he believed his de novo review extended to considering matters of City policy and substituting his decision for that of the Mayor, if he felt it was appropriate. (R. 0746, SLCC 002225 (lines 793-813); SLCC 001398 ("The review is not limited to the facts and law but also to policy considerations which fall within the discretion of the City to consider in making the original decisions.")) The City assisted the hearing officer in understanding that his role, as a quasi-judicial officer, was to consider whether the decisions made were permitted by law, not to substitute his decision for that of the Mayor where the decision involves pure policy considerations. (R. 0746, SLCC 001405-06.) In his final decision, the hearing officer agreed with the City's position and appropriately limited his de novo review to a determination of

is appellate in nature and is essentially the same in scope as the review conducted by the district court and the review that will be conducted by this Court. (R. 0746, SLCC 01894-95.) The Mayor's decisions, not the hearing officer's review of those decisions, are the administrative decisions subject to review in this appeal.

II. THE CITY'S DENIAL OF CBS'S APPLICATION TO RELOCATE A DEMOLISHED BILLBOARD WAS NOT ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS OR ILLEGAL.

The City's denial of CBS's section 511 application requesting the City waive its zoning ordinance and allow CBS to relocate its demolished billboard was not arbitrary, capricious or illegal because (1) the Mayor can make a decision to deny a section 511 application; (2) section 21A.46.160(CC) of the Salt Lake City Code does not prevent the Mayor from making that decision, and (3) the decision is supported by substantial evidence.

A. The Mayor can make a Decision to Deny a Section 511 Application.

1. Waiving or not Waiving an Ordinance is an Administrative Decision.

Granting or denying an application brought under section 511 is an administrative decision that the Mayor has authority to make. Section 511(3)(c)(i) allows a municipality to waive (or not waive) its zoning ordinance to permit relocation of a billboard that is otherwise prohibited. Utah Code § 10-9a-511 (3)(c)(i). The subsection sets forth no factors or guidelines stating any circumstance under which a municipality must waive its

whether the statute afforded the Mayor authority to make the decisions and whether the decisions exceeded the bounds of reasonableness. (R. 0746, SLCC 001894-95.)

ordinance, but rather contemplates a negotiation between the parties and an agreement to a “mutually acceptable location.” *Id.* Thus, the decision to waive (or not waive) ordinances and permit relocation of billboards is left to the discretion of the municipality.

The Mayor, as Salt Lake City’s chief administrative officer, has the authority to exercise that discretion on behalf of the City. It is well established that in a council-mayor form of government the council is responsible for the passage of laws and the mayor and the administration are responsible for the enforcement of those laws. *Scherbel v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 758 P.2d 897, 899 (Utah 1988) (quoting *Martindale v. Anderson*, 581 P.2d 1022, 1027 (Utah 1978) (“[l]egislative power, as distinguished from executive power, is the authority to make laws, but not to enforce them or appoint the agents charged with the duty to make such enforcement. The latter are executive functions.”)). A decision to waive (or not waive) ordinances falls clearly within the powers afforded the administration because it is a decision to “enforce” or not to “enforce” provisions of zoning ordinances. A decision under section 511 falls squarely within the realm of the executive branch and it was appropriate for the Mayor to make the decision that the City was not going to waive its ordinances and deny CBS’s request to relocate its already demolished billboard.

2. Approval of the City Council is not Required when a Municipality Denies a Section 511 Application.

CBS claims the City’s denial of its application is illegal because the City Council must approve that denial. CBS’s argument relies on a provision of the Eminent Domain Statute, Utah Code § 78B-6-501 *et. seq.*, that requires approval from the City Council

when the City exercises the powers of eminent domain conferred by that statute. That provision does not apply because the City is not exercising a power of eminent domain under that statute and the provisions of the Eminent Domain Statute do not apply to decisions to deny applications for billboard permits made pursuant to section 511.

- i. *Section 511 and section 513 do not incorporate the Eminent Domain Statute and its condemnation process.*

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